
 

 

ESSEX COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 
MEETING OF JANUARY 25, 2024, AT 7:00 P.M. 

109 CROSS STREET 
TAPPAHANNOCK, VIRGINIA 22560 

MINUTES 
 

Present: 
 
Steven Laffoon –Chairman 
Stephen Walters 
Gamaliel Rose 
Edward Haile 
Ned Stephenson 
 
Also Present: 
 
Kelly McKnight – Planning and Zoning Office Manager 
Brian Barnes – Zoning Administrator 
 
Call to Order 
 
Chairman Laffoon called the January 25, 2024, meeting of the Essex County Board of Zoning Appeals to 
order. 
 
Roll Call 
 
Ms. McKnight called the roll. A quorum was met. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
Chairman Laffoon asked if there were any changes or modifications to the August 24, 2023, minutes? 
Mr. Haile made a motion to accept the minutes as presented. Mr. Walters seconded the motion. AYES: 5 
NAYES: 0 ABSENT: 0 
 
Public Comments 
 
None. 
 
Public Hearings 
 
V2300008 – Danny Ray Akers, Jr. 
 
Mr. Barnes said that this case is a request for a variance.  Mr. Barnes said that as you can see from the 
memo that things have changed and that is what I wanted to explain to you.  Something is new and we 
have been doing it since August, but the way we are doing these memos now was not how your memo 
read for your August case and that change is that we have pivoted from having a from having a strong 
recommendation for an approval or denial as staff to more of a neutral fact base recommendation.  That 
is based on several factors, one being the litigious nature of the world we live in, and another fact is 



 

 

when     citizens come in it is not fair to begin to get into get into an adversarial relationship with county 
staff.  County staff are paid by the taxpayers to be as neutral as possible. Our job is to get people back 
into compliance and to fulfill the role that the ordinance asks us to. When you look at this memo it says 
discussion and staff analysis, it does not say staff recommend approval or staff recommend denial. With 
that being said we do the best that we can to dig into an issue and find all the reasons why it could be 
approved or could be denied and all the legal things that you need to maneuver. The BZA is a very 
powerful body because its decisions are binding and final and only appealable to circuit court whereas 
others the Board of Supervisors can overturn and other things. With you all you all are acting on behalf 
of the Circuit Court in these matters, so the Circuit Court does not have to hear them on their docket.   It 
is a very important job.  Mr. Barnes also said in a county where you have had a zoning ordinance since 
1976 you really need to have a body like you all like you all who can look at this case where they are not 
administratively approvable where you can case by case use your best judgement.  Some people will not 
like how the memos are now. Several other Boards and Commissions I work with have said that they like 
it better because it frees us up to not have to feel bound to come down from one side or another. I can 
personally tell you when I did stuff for Wetlands Board in another county for many years, the only time 
they wanted a recommendation from me for or against on a case was a case of enforcement and I had 
to list what I thought the fines should be and we went on a trend about five meetings in a row where 
the fines that were actually levied were about a fifth of what I recommended.  If you want to know the 
facts, the facts are here. If you want to talk to me offline, come in the office, a phone call, an email that 
would be great. I like it because it frees me up when the citizen knows that I at no point is going to come 
against them they can then trust us to be their neutral arbitrator.  I have to work with you all, and with 
the citizens.  My job is to make sure that you all have the facts, and they have the best shot they can 
have the best hearing. 
 
On this first case with this new way of doing it, you have a request for a variance of a parcel.  Within the 
body of the memo, I tried to attach some arial shots to give you what’s on the ground. Several of you 
have been to this site and that is great.  If any of you don’t want to go by yourself and want me to go 
with you, it is not a public hearing if they go one at a time. In some cases, I can arrange for the property 
owner to be there to talk to us and tell us about what we should know. On this particular property it was 
divided in 2008 so at that time it was a by right division.  A trailer was already established on the 
property at that time but has since been removed.  A power line is right behind the trailer.  That power 
line creates a right of way issue.  The new home that they want to build is a stick built home going to be 
a little bit shorter but wider it can’t go back because it will be directly under the power lines. The old 
zoning ordinance which just went out, which was good until 2022 allowed for a 50-foot setback in the A-
2 district that if it is prior non-conforming lot and that is why it automatically goes to you. If it is a self-
inflicted hardship or not prior non-conforming, there is nothing that you can do with it either and you 
probably learned that in your training that if you do that it is an illegal action by the BZA. Even though it 
is a lot that was created in 2008 under that zoning ordinance they still had more room you can see that 
they still had more room.  They had 90 feet from the edge of the trailer to the center of the road. On 
this one you don’t have a site plat of where they exactly want to put the new house. When you make a 
motion for approval you want to be exact with the setbacks.  When you make the motion make sure you 
make it clear so Kelly or I can have it right on the permit.  
 
Mr. Rose said the map has the mobile home location and the apparent best move for buildable square 
footage would be in front of that but would presumably require abandonment of well or pump house. 
So that will be an issue. 
 



 

 

Mr. Barnes said that the property owner can address the well. The mobile home is gone.  We looked for 
the well also, not sure if that is being used or not.  The property owner can answer that question as well.  
He can also answer that the new home footprint will be partially over top where that mobile home 
footprint was because it is wider it is going to stick out farther into that 100-foot setback. 
 
Mr. Walters on the yellow section on the plat is that some ……. 
 
Mr. Barnes said that the yellow section is the buildable area now under the existing ordinance. That is 
what you are restricted to. 
 
Mr. Rose said it is all under the power lines so it’s a problem. 
 
Mr. Barnes said or on top of a drain field. 
 
Mr. Haile said it’s not a buildable area? 
 
Mr. Barnes said “correct.” In full disclosure I drew the yellow area in when they first applied for the 
building permit because I was trying to figure out what was going on. That’s when I started having 
conversations with the property owners that you don’t have a buildable area without going to the BZA, 
that is our next step. 
 
Mr. Walters said this is an idea to define the problem that they would have in complying with the 
ordinance as written. 
 
Mr. Rose said given the apparent expiration of a two-year grace period on the mobile footprint the 
pathway that I see that makes sense is whether this is self-inflicted hardship, no.  Whether the BZA 
serve authority to understand the spirit of the requirements on this lot that would not affect zoning to 
other lots.  It would seem to me that the fact it has been more than two years since the original 
structure was abandoned and would technically violate the process where they could renew it without 
question. But in spirit there would not be any effect with other situations in the same zoning or setbacks 
if we were to say will they weren’t clearly or cognitive the two-year limitation when they moved the 
mobile home and they would like to use the same lot for the same purpose in the same exact way. In 
the spirit of zoning, it would seem to make sense for us this would be a case where the BZA could decide 
fine. 
 
Mr. Barnes liked how Mr. Rose alluded to the questions and I took this right from the ordinance and 
being cognizance of you guys taking the recent training. It is important that you ask the three questions 
and I put them in here.    1. The strict interpretation of the Ordinance restricts the utilization of the 
property, 2. The need for a variance would not be shared generally by other properties and 3. Literal 
enforcement of this Ordinance will result in unnecessary hardship, provided that the spirit of the 
ordinance is observes and substantial justice done. Those are great three questions to ask on a variance 
case. Of course, I put standards and procedures on there and they mirror the questions.  If it is a very 
unique situation and the lot has become completely unbuildable due to actions beyond the control of 
the property owner due to changes in ordinance, etc. That is good, strong variance material. 
 
Mr. Walters said this was subdivided in 2008. 
 
Mr. Barnes said yes. 



 

 

Mr. Walters said so that was under the old ordinance? 
 
Mr. Barnes said “yes”.  So, when you look at the lot was a little over 2 acres and they divided it in half.  
So even in 2008 the county had the threshold of really looking for 1 dwelling per 5-acre density and that 
is still there.  There is a caveat in there and it is still in there and you all know 5 acres or less you are 
allowed to divide that lot in half.  As long as it still complies with the acreage sizes which it did. 
 
Mr. Walters said there is an exception in the old ordinance for the family subdivision anyway, so the rule 
doesn’t necessarily apply. 
 
Mr. Barnes said that is correct.  Even then both lots that were created still had under the setbacks at 
that time because they had more room, and they would be will away from the power lines. Mr. Barnes 
said off the record we have a saying in the office, a job forever because this stuff is just complicated 
enough where there is always going to be something to do. 
 
Mr. Stephenson said in the interest of disclosure that he and Mr. Haile visited the site and spoke briefly 
with the homeowner a few days ago. 
 
Mr. Rose said that he and Mr. Stephenson had that conversation on the telephone.  Just to make sure 
we are familiar with the facts of the case. 
 
Mr. Laffoon asked Mr. Akers to come forward and show them where he plans on putting the house.   
Mr. Akers said that the mobile home has been gone for eight or nine months. 
 
Mr. Stephenson said not two years. 
 
Mr. Rose said then there was an error in the presentation of the facts which now we don’t have to make 
an exception.  
 
Mr. Akers said now it has a garage there.  Where the mobile home was, the house is going in the same 
spot across the back where the mobile home was.  From the house to the road, it is more than 50 feet; it 
is like 70 feet. To the edge of the road to the corner of the house it is like 70 feet.  
 
Mr. Laffoon asked Mr. Barnes if these dimensions don’t go from the center of the road, they go from the 
property line. Am I correct in that? 
 
Mr. Barnes said no that it goes from the edge of the property line or from the edge of the public road. 
 
Mr. Rose said this lot seems to have the front of the property in the center of the roadway. 
 
Mr. Haile said that the other aspect when I visited the property where he wants to put the house was 
very suitable. If we make him move backward anymore to avoid that powerline, he will be going down a 
slope. So, he has a brand-new house with two 100-year-old trees flagging it on either side and a slight 
rise in a distance from here to where the cars are parked outside, I don’t have any objection to this. 
 
Mr. Rose said neither do I. 
 
Mr. Walters asked in your site plan are you going to be lining up with the garage that already exists? 



 

 

 
Mr. Akers said that it is going to be a little head of the garage. 
 
Mr. Stephenson made a motion that the board grant a variance on the front setback from 100 feet to 50  
feet. Mr. Rose seconded.  AYES: 5 NAYES: 0 ABSENT: 0 
 
Chairman Laffoon said that he would like to add one thing to that. When he gets the dimensions, and 
everything make sure that it comes in and that we have the actual setbacks, so we have record of that. 
 
Mr. Walters also added for him to have compliance with the other setbacks for the accessory buildings 
and the side yards. I don’t think there is a problem there. 
 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 



 

 

 
 
  



 

 

 
  



 

 

 
 
V2400001 – Mark Smith and Percell Smith, Jr.   



 

 

Mr. Barnes said that this public hearing is for Mark Anthony Smith and Percell Smith, Jr. This is the 
property they own.  It is next door to 4428 Sunnyside Rd.  This is a similar situation with one slight 
exception except this is property that has not been built on yet. I gave you all copies of the original plat 
that didn’t make it in time to be in your original memo last week.   The original plat is dated June 26, 
1973.  The Essex County Zoning Ordinance was first enacted in 1976 so this was 3 years prior to the 
zoning ordinance.  If you look at Mr. Smith’s and Mr. Smith’s property now it is but .55 and .58 when 
Mike Wind surveyed it recently. It is the same exact parcel; it hasn’t been changed.  There is no self-
inflicted hardship.  Going back to our three questions in our other standards and procedures, looking at 
variances.  We want to look at if there is any way to build outside of any of the setbacks.  Refer to the 
staff analysis.  This is an extreme case of the setbacks gobbling up a lot that was created before the 
zoning ordinance was created.  Are you creating a hardship on the neighbors? Are you doing something 
that could not be done somewhere else? Or could this be accomplished by rezoning?  In this case this is 
not likely doable because the zoning is A-2.  It would be a spot zoning. We come back to the variance 
model. Mr. Barnes did get some questions from the neighbors when the adjacent property owners 
letters went out.  Once explained to the adjacent property owners, they were less concerned.  Mr. 
Barnes does not have any written protest.  If that occurs to me, make sure that if there are any protests, 
I puts them in the memo or gets them to the Board Members.  
 
Mr. Walters asked the question, how wide is the lot? When you drew your little yellow box, it is 50 feet 
back. 
 
 Mr. Stephenson said 98 feet from the road. 
 
Mr. Barnes said the lot is 421 feet deep, but it tapers down to 15 to 20 feet wide in the back.  
 
Mr. Barnes said that the property owner did bring his bring his septic permit with him and some 
drawings related to that. He does not have a final on a house plan as of yet. In the memo Mr. Barnes set 
a hypothetical 50-foot setback just because the previous ordinance had that as a setback. 
 
Mr. Haile went out with Mr. Stephenson to look at the property.  It seems to him that he is looking for a 
variance on the front, a variance on the side, a variance on the building lot and that is three right there. 
How many more Ned did we count up? 
 
Mr. Stephenson said that he agrees with Mr. Haile, but it seems to him that he needs a density variance 
and a lot width variance in addition to the front and side setbacks, he needs 4 variances to comply. 
 
Mr. Haile said that are a lot of variances and asked how free can we be with a decision? That’s quite a 
lot. 
 
Mr. Laffoon said that it a nonconforming lot to begin with.  It was granted to being a lot in 1973 so he 
would think we are technically bound to the 73 rules and regulations. It was purchased under those 
parameters. 
 
Mr. Haile said that he would add that going out there with a 50-foot setback would conform with every 
house up and down that strip development.  
 
Mr. Barnes said that is why he did that study on that strip of road that would be comparable.  Mr. 
Barnes said you don’t want to get in the habit of issuing multiple variances for every lot or every time 



 

 

you have a case.  I think in this this case that burden is not equally shared by many other lots in the 
county. There are some that will be like that but when you run into a lot that is unbuildable without 
taking those steps then you are probably justified as long as you look at the wider county and say we 
don’t have to do that. 
 
Mr. Haile said that the one that is formally called Corbin is vacant.  If he purchased that lot, he wouldn’t 
need to be here tonight except for a front setback. 
 
Mr. Barnes said there is currently a house on that lot now, and it is saying formally Corbin is in the 1973 
survey. 
 
Mr. Haile said there is a house but about 100 to 150 feet down the road from this boundary line. The 
Mike Wind plat looks like to me shows an empty lot.  
 
Mr. Barnes said you can see the house on the edge of the lot of the adjacent property owner.  There is 
also a mistake with the tax card and Carlos is here, running the board.  The Newman house is back here. 
This house is far enough back that you might not have seen it. 
 
Mr. Barnes said he spends a lot of time in the office counseling people rather than doing the variance 
route, do the boundary line abandonment. Because it is a better product when they go to sell later.  
 
Mr. Stephenson said it’s probably a technicality on the matter of the 4 variances to keep the record 
clean he would need those variances approved otherwise he would be in violation of a density 
ordinance and a lot width ordinance. 
 
Mr. Barnes said yes, that maybe is true. 
 
Mr. Stephenson said if he is reading the Board a little bit, they are trying to make it work for Mr. Smith 
and I think he would need all 4 variances. 
 
Mr. Barnes said you meant the density being the lot is smaller than 1 acre. 
 
Mr. Stephenson said yes, that is right. 
 
Mr. Walters said to him that comes when you want to subdivide. You don’t make lots like this under the 
current ordinance.  
 
Mr. Barnes said that if we were coming forward with a subdivision request that was coming to you, and 
you had to issue a variance prior to a subdivision being allowed then I would say yes, we are allowing 
the variance to make this lot more dense then what is required.  
 
Mr. Walters said, or you go back when tax map 33-21 was one piece and you come into the building 
department and you want to chop this up into parcels and sell them off, you would say no that is not 
going to pass because you are not meeting the density requirements. I think we could probably grant all 
four.  My only question is the density and lot width requirements are something that happens at the 
subdivision level. Maybe at this point they might be grandfathered in. I am also open to being complete. 
 



 

 

Mr. Barnes said it should be discussed by you guys because caution is a better form of valor. I think if 
you wanted to make a motion to include that I don’t think there is any harm in that.  If it makes you 
business better to say motion to also issue variance…also knowing, I am not your attorney.  Any decision 
that you make if somebody doesn’t like it, they will have to appeal it to Circuit Court where by the Judge 
will then consider those matters.   
 
Mr. Rose said that he would agree with Ned that it is safer to articulate every single dimension of 
variance. 
 
Mr. Percell Smith, Jr. said that he was there to assist or answer any questions that the Board may have. 
 
Mr. Barnes said I applaud you guys for catching that it is less than the minimum of 1 acre and that is 
what the BZA needs to look at. 
 
Mr. Stephenson said that a motion of that kind removes all doubt.  
 
Mr. Percell Smith, Jr came forward.  I am here to ask or answer any questions that you may have. 
 
Mr. Laffoon asked, “do you have the dimensions of your house?” 
 
Mr. Smith said that he went to Clayton Homes and looked at a 28 x 48 3 bedrooms, 2 bathrooms and 
when they got the right of way from the electric company, they proposed a plot for the house on our 
parcel. 
 
Mr. Rose asked him to come forward and show them.  Mr. Percell showed them the proposal from the 
electric company, they granted the easement from the survey and where the location of the power lines 
was. 
 
Mr. Rose said it is close to the road but said it seems to make a lot of sense. 
 
Mr. Haile asked how close it is to the road? 
 
Mr. Barnes came forward and took a picture of the plat that Mr. Smith had since we didn’t have a copy. 
 
Mr. Smith said we can scale it out where it is going to be by using the dimensions of the 28 x 48 house 
dimensions. 
 
Mr. Rose said that it looks like the front corner is about 30 feet from the road.  
 
Mr. Walters asked Mr. Barnes if he knew how wide the lot is?  
 
Mr. Laffoon said you have the house squared…. unable to see what Mr. Laffoon is showing Mr. Smith on 
the drawing as to what he is saying.  
 
Everyone talking at once and can’t make out what they are talking about. 
 
Mr. Rose said he would be comfortable squeezing the side setbacks and turning and widening if you are 
minimal. He thinks it is room to push it back 15 feet and still stay out of the power right of way. 



 

 

 
Mr. Stephenson said that he would like some clarification on whether we are measuring from the 
property line or from the edge of the pavement.  His understanding is the setback is from the property 
line because that is the only line where you know where it is.  The pavement goes all over the place.  
 
Mr. Rose said you do know where the center of the right of way is because that is from the center line of 
the road.  
 
Mr. Stephenson said on alot of these country roads there is not a right of way because it was never 
deeded.  So, if you always go by the property line. 
 
Mr. Laffoon said that he has the property marke-d.  
 
Mr. Haile said that the property line is the center of the road.  
 
Mr. Stephenson said he just wants to clarify where is the base line which we are going to measure the 
setback. 
 
Mr. Haile said as a former land surveyor you are going to measure it from the edge of the road and the 
edge of the road is 15 feet from the center line wherever you want to say the center line is.  
 
Mr. Stephenson said he is still not clear on whether we are measuring from the property line or some 
other line. 
 
Mr. Barnes said if it helps on your front setback, it is from the road. 
 
At this time there were two conversations going … one with Mr. Rose, Mr. Haile, Mr. Laffoon and Mr. 
Smith.  This was inaudible and unable to hear. 
 
Another conversation with Mr. Barnes, Mr. Stephenson, and Mr. Walters. 
 
Mr. Stephenson asked Mr. Barnes to show him that in the ordinance where it says you measure from 
the property line or from the pavement.  He is not convinced unless someone can show him that it says 
that.  
 
Mr. Barnes said front setback 100 feet and he believes it says that because you can have two lots side by 
side and your property may not go by the road. 
Mr. Stephenson said it is not clear and he is not convinced.  
 
Mr. Haile said some of the county roads have been surveyed and platted and some are not 30-foot 
width some are 50 feet or 40 feet so the property line would begin on the edge of that survey but here 
there has not been a survey on Sunnyside Road.  Therefore, Mr. Smith and everyone else on that road 
owns that road.  You are paying taxes on it.   
 
Mr. Stephenson said the property line.  He is now convinced. 
 
Mr. Haile asked where is the definition in the ordinance? 
 



 

 

Mr. Barnes read the definition on setback from the ordinance. 
 
Mr. Laffoon opened the public hearing. No one responded. 
 
Public hearing closed. 
 
Mr. Rose made a motion to vary the front setback to 50 feet from the lot front line which is the center of 
the road. We are varying the side setback such that any built structure does not encroach closer than 5 
feet from any sideline and varying the site density limitation of one residential structure per acre 
because the lot is only .58 acres and allow only one structure on that lot and finally varying the lot with 
limitation on the zoning to allow for this narrow lot to be built with these three other variances. 
Seconded by Mr. Haile. AYES: 5 NAYES: 0 ABSENT: 0 
 



 

 

 
 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
New Business 



 

 

 
Election of Officers 
Mr. Haile made a motion to nominate Mr. Laffoon as President.  Mr. Rose seconded. AYES: 4 NAYES: 0 
ABSENT: 0 
Mr. Rose made a motion to nominate Stephen Walters as Vice Chairman.  Mr. Haile seconded. AYES: 4 
NAYES: 0 ABSENT: 0 
Mr. Rose made a motion to elect Ms. McKnight to be Secretary.  Mr. Haile seconded it.  AYES: 5 NAYES: 
0 ABSENT: 0 
 
Old Business 
 
None 
 
Miscellaneous 
 
Code of Performance Code 
Mr. Barnes spoke about the newspaper article that was in the paper entitled Essex Adopts Performance 
Code.  He said it is good to be respectful and attentive. Mr. Barnes explained why the system works so 
well.  He said this has been done before, just not publicized.  Everyone will have to sign it.   
 
Mr. Haile said that when he read this in the paper, he thought someone had provoked this.  
 
Mr. Rose said when a public authority starts to take about obvious goods you wonder what they are not 
doing and why they want to be congratulated in public.  He said that is coming from a Board of 
Supervisors that has recently overlooked some fairly large camels that have a material effect on 
taxpayers. This to me as a taxpayer is eyewash with all due respect.  Mr. Haile said he seconded that 
motion.   
 
Mr. Barnes said he is an optimist.  He will look at it as a way that everyone holds to this level and there is 
a written way to deal with it. 
 
Mr. Rose said have something in there about physical accountability for decisions that should result in 
unnecessary cost to the county and taxpayer.  
 



 

 

 
 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 
Mr. Laffoon asked do we have a meeting next month? 
 
Mr. Barnes said not as right now. 
 



 

 

Mr. Laffoon said if we do, he will not be here. 
 
Mr. Walters said with your staff approach, the only concern he has as an adjudicated board we need to 
make judgements on decisions. If you make a decision someone can appeal Brian’s decision to them or 
authorize upon original application of variance.  Out of these two things these two cases would be the 
latter that people are coming here to authorize the original application of a variance. With this new 
approach if somebody is coming to implicit in that would be if we did not exist that person cannot be 
automatically denied if they do not comply with the ordinance if they didn’t get a permit. 
 
Mr. Barnes said I think I know where you are going with that and can get you an answer quite quickly. 
You may see that, and I did a couple of the actions that you are alluding to recently that may come to 
you where somebody will try to appeal my decision.  What I am talking about in these staff memos does 
not include if you come to me and say Brian, I am applying to build a pool right here and I looked in the 
ordinance, and it just can’t be approved so I say no.  You can’t because it is not legal, so I do a Zoning 
Administrator determination letter.  You try to justify your no answer.  You will still get people like what 
I don’t tell them.  You will then get an appeal. You will get a good firm administrator determination from 
me. You are not required by law to give a board yes you can do that or no you can’t.  Sometimes staff 
are wrong and when you agree with staff then it makes for an attorney…Noone wants to tie your hands.  
You will still get the zoning administrator decisions. 
 
Mr. Rose said, “so what did we do tonight?” Basically, you presented this is not permissible, but you are 
not going to say we should make a variance.  You were basically saying it is not permitted now you have 
(inaudible). 
 
Mr. Barnes said I feel comfortable saying that both of these are in fair play variance territory.  Whether 
you choose to approve them is up to you. 
 
Adjourn 
 
Chairman Laffoon adjourned the meeting. 
 
__________________________________       
Steven Laffoon - Chairman 
 


